RECEIVED

Jun 17 2026

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Mikell R. Scarborough, Master-in-Equity for Charleston County

Appellate Case No. 2026-000961

Nationstar HECM Acquisition Trust, 2015-2, Wilmington Savings Fund Society,
FSB, not individually, but solely as Trustee.....Respondents,

v.

Grange Simons Lucas, III, Individually and as personal representative for the
estate of Mary King Lucas (2014-ES-10-0682), Renee Jervy Lucas,
Mary Catherine Lucas Jakeman, James A. McAlister Funeral Home,
and the United States of America, acting by and through its agency
the Secretary of Housing and Urban Development, Defendants,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ORDER THAT A \$50,000.00 AGREED UPON REDUCTION IN THE FORECLOSED REVERSE MORTGAGE BALANCE WAS NOT A BINDING AGREEMENT, EVEN THOUGH MEMORIALIZED IN WRITING BY EMAILS AND A PAYOFF STATEMENT DATED APRIL 30, 2025?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was commenced by the filing of a Summons and Complaint for foreclosure of a reverse mortgage on January 20, 2015. The original mortgagor was Appellant's mother, Mary King Lucas who died prior to the commencement of the action.

Appellant Grange Simons Lucas, III filed his Answer, individually and as personal representative of the Estate of Mary King Lucas on February 19, 2015, admitting the jurisdictional allegations of the Complaint and demanding strict proof or denying to the remaining allegations of the Complaint and further requesting that the foreclosure action be stayed pending resolution of other litigation then being prosecuted on behalf of the estate. That litigation was ultimately ended, making the request moot.

The action was referred to Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity for Charleston County, with finality.

The Master in Equity issued his Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale (Deficiency Waived) on August 28, 2015, determining the total debt then due as \$167,328.36 and ordering that such amount bear interest thereafter at the rate of 5.06%.

The said Order and Judgment ordered that the property be advertised and sold in the customary manner.

The foreclosure sale was delayed multiple times due to Defendant Lucas' bankruptcy filings and efforts to either sell the property and payoff the mortgage or refinance the property with a reverse mortgage in his own name.

The Bankruptcy Court lifted the automatic stay as to the mortgaged property on December 20, 2024.

The property was ultimately sold at a foreclosure sale occurring on January 6, 2026.

This appeal concerns issues arising after the Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale. In April of 2025, the parties negotiated a \$50,000.00 balance reduction on the mortgage. Negotiations were initially verbal but confirmed in writing by emails and a written payoff statement dated April 30, 2025.

The property was sold at foreclosure sale on January 6, 2026, resulting in a surplus above the sum necessary to satisfy the mortgage.

Appellant filed a Motion/Claim for Surplus on January 16, 2026, and later an amended Motion/Verified Claim for surplus filed January 21, 2026, claiming that the \$50,000.00 reduction should be deducted from the amount due under mortgages. The mortgagee claimed that the \$50,000.00 reduction was a promotional program which expired in August 2025.

The Master in Equity issued an Order dated March 3, 2026, determining that the \$50,000.00 reduction was a promotional program and not a binding agreement.

Appellant moved to alter or amend the Master in Equity's October 3, 2026 which motion was denied by order dated March 19, 2026.

The notice of appeal was filed and served April 17, 2026.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This is a mortgage foreclosure action. A mortgage foreclosure is an action in equity. Byrn v. Walker, 275 S.C. 83, 84, 267 S.E. 2nd 601 (1980).

In an equity case, the appellate court may review the evidence to determine whether or not findings of the lower court are supported by a preponderance of the evidence. As stated in Crowder v. Crowder, 246 S.C. 299, 301, 143 S.E. 2nd 580:

“It is now well settled that this court has jurisdiction in appeals in equity cases to find the facts in accord with our view in the preponderance or greater weight of the evidence, in the absence of a verdict by a jury; and may reverse a factual finding by the lower court in such cases the Appellant satisfies this court that the finding is against preponderance of the evidence. Forester v. Forester, 226 S.C. 311, 85 S.E. 2nd 187. Id. at 246 S.C. 301”

FACTS

All of the pertinent rulings and findings in this matter were made by the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough, Master in Equity for Charleston County pursuant to an Order of Reference dated April 8, 2015, with authority to enter final judgment with appeal, if any, directed to the South Carolina Supreme Court or Court of Appeals.

The orders appealed from involve issues which arose subsequent to the Master’s Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale filed August 28, 2015.

The Appellant contends that the communications hereafter summarized establish a binding agreement to reduce the mortgage balance by \$50,000.00, and not merely a promotional, time limited offer as determined by the Master’s Order of March 3, 2026, and reaffirmed by the Order of March 19, 2026.

On January 21, 2022, Appellant filed a Motion for Judicial Determination of the Total Debt Due alleging that subsequent to the Master’s Order and Judgment of Foreclosure and Sale the

mortgagee had been compounding interest monthly in derogation of the Master's Order which provided:

“After the date of judgment, interest at the rate of 5.06% from the total judgment debt should be added to such judgment debt to comprise the amount Plaintiff's debt secured by the mortgage.”
(Order dated August 28, 2015, page 4).

Prior to the court ruling on this motion, the Appellant refiled his bankruptcy case and consequently no order was issued ruling upon the motion.

The bankruptcy court granted relief from the automatic stay by Order entered December 20, 2024, allowing the foreclosure sale process to proceed.

Subsequent to the lifting of the stay, the foreclosure sale was postponed three (3) additional times to allow Appellant to either sell the property and satisfy the mortgage balance or refinance the mortgage in his own name in an amount sufficient to satisfy the mortgage.

On March 6, 2025, incident to an agreement to postpone the scheduled foreclosure sale, the Master issued a consent order finding that the current balance on the mortgage was \$377,377.50.

On the day the consent order was submitted (and 2 days prior to its execution by the court) undersigned counsel sent an email to mortgagees' attorney, Martin Page stating:

“Martin, please find attached copies of five (5) checks of \$436.00 each paid by Grange Lucas toward taxes and/or insurance totaling \$2,180.00. I did not see this reflected on the last payoffs you gave. **Also, is the mortgagee still compounding interest? If so, I will remind the Court that there is an outstanding motion concerning that which would need to be ruled upon before the next sale date. Thanks, Kerry**” (Email dated March 4, 2025 at 11:56 a.m.) (Emphasis added)

This email serves as the starting point for a series of discussions which resulted in a \$50,000.00 reduction in the mortgage balance. The negotiations between counsel were in part

verbal, but confirmed in writing by emails and a mortgagee issued payoff statement dated April 30, 2025, all of which provide sufficient writings to demonstrate that the mortgage reduction was contractual in nature and not just merely a promotional, time limited offer. The pertinent writings are reproduced below.

The undersigned counsel emailed a letter to Mr. Page on April 11, 2025, in pertinent part stating:

“Also, I spoke to Grange about the compound interest question and if we can get a figure as to how much interest has accrued since Judge Scarborough’s foreclosure order, he indicated that he would be amenable to a negotiated sum to resolve the outstanding motion.”
(Letter dated 4/11/25 at 12:15 p.m.)

Following the above referenced letter, the next pertinent writing is an email from the undersigned to Mr. Page dated April 24, 2025, at 5:21 p.m. confirming a verbal conversation and stating:

“Martin, Mr. Lucas approves the settlement of the interest issue for a 50k reduction in the payoff to 331k. He would like that held good through June 1. His bankruptcy lawyers have advised that there needs to be a filing for court approval. Can you let me know if you have final approval of these terms. Kerry”
(Email dated April 24, 2025 at 5:21 p.m.)

Mr. Page on behalf of the mortgagee replied three (3) minutes later on April 24, 2025 at 5:24 p.m.:

“Kerry,
I am just waiting on final approval regarding the number. They are currently generating a new payoff for me and I will provide it as soon as I get it.
Thanks, Martin.” (Email dated 4/24/25 at 5:24 p.m.)

The undersigned followed up on April 29th via email to Mr. Page asking:

“Any update? KK.” (Email dated 4/29/25 at 12:45 p.m.)

Mr. Page responded the next day, stating:

“Kerry,
Payoff quote attached.
Thanks, Martin.” (Email dated 4/30/25 at 3:28 p.m.)

Attached to that email was a payoff statement dated April 30, 2025, showing a \$50,000.00 reduction identified as a “discounted payoff promotion.”

The payoff statement quoted a final payoff of \$334,187.35 with a “good through date” of May 15, 2025. After the foreclosure sale which resulted in a surplus the mortgagee refused to honor the \$50,000.00 reduction.

ARGUMENT

- I. DID THE LOWER COURT ERR IN FAILING TO ORDER THAT A \$50,000.00 AGREED UPON REDUCTION IN THE FORECLOSED REVERSE MORTGAGE BALANCE WAS NOT A BINDING AGREEMENT, EVEN THOUGH MEMORIALIZED IN WRITING BY EMAILS AND A PAYOFF STATEMENT DATED APRIL 30, 2025?

The payoff stated a “good through date of May 15, 2025.

It is important to recognize that, in the context of the payoff statement that “good through date” did not indicate that the \$50,000.00 reduction expired on May 15, 2025, but only that interest calculation was good through May 15, 2025. It was found under the heading “Payoff Instructions” and further stated that the per diem interest was \$66.42.

Further down in the text beneath the heading “Payoff Instructions” is found the following:

“Funds received after May 15, 2025 must include the per diem because interest is due from the date the payoff is received. If your mailing address has changed, please let us know in writing; otherwise, any funds in excess of the payoff amount will be returned to the Borrower at the mailing address listed above.”

Thus, the context of the letter does not indicate that the “good through date” was the expiration of the \$50,000.00 reduction, but is simply a routine notice that additional interest at the per diem rate must be added after the “good through date” of May 15, 2025.

There was no written communication or even a suggestion that the reduction of the mortgage payoff was time limited. No time limit is stated in the payoff statement of April 30, 2025 other than the per diem interest to be added after May 15, 2025.

Although the mortgagee now claims that the \$50,000.00 reduction was time limited, expiring in August 2025, such was never communicated to Appellant or his counsel in any manner as shown by the following email exchange on February 12, 2026, with Mr. Page:

“Kerry, from the notes in my client’s system it looks like the promotion was from April to September. Thanks, Martin
(Email dated 2/12/26 at 12:46 p.m.)

To which the undersigned responded later on the same day

“Martin, did we receive anything that stated a time limit that I might have overlooked? Kerry.” (Email dated 2/12/26 at 3:22 p.m.)

Mr. Page subsequently responded at 3:51 p.m., the same day

“Kerry, I don’t think so on time frame.” (Email dated 2/12/26 at 3:51 p.m.)

Thus, there was no contemporaneous communication at the time of the negotiation of the agreement that indicated the discount was time limited to either August or September of 2025.

Mortgagee stated in its reply to the Motion/Verified Claim for Surplus:

“The Plaintiff attempted to motivate Lucas to sell the subject property by offering him a \$50,000.00 discounted payoff. This was a promotion that ran from April to August 2025 on older files serviced by the Plaintiff.” (Reply to Motion/Verified Claim for Surplus, p. 2)

This was never communicated to the Appellant or counsel. The affidavit of Plaintiff submitted to the Court after the Master’s March 3rd Order and filed March 17, 2026, failed to state

that a time limit was communicated to either the Borrower or counsel. It merely stated that neither the servicer or investor agreed to a permanent reduction of \$50,000.00. That affidavit should carry little weight as it obviously conflicts with the facts by stating in paragraph 4:

“To date since the commencement of the foreclosure action, the Plaintiff has not agreed – and has not agreed in writing – to modify, discharge, waive, rescind, alter, or otherwise vary any provision, condition, covenant, or promise in the note or the mortgage securing it. The Plaintiff has not received money sufficient to reinstate or payoff the Borrower’s/Borrowers’ mortgage loan amount and does not agree – and has not agreed in writing- to accept lessor, substitute, or modify performance by the Borrower under the terms of the note and/or the mortgage.” (Affidavit of Plaintiff, p. 4)

The above is clearly untrue as it contradicts the written payoff statement of April 30, 2025, casting doubt on the credibility of the entire affidavit.

Although the principal was explained in a property dispute, in *Byrn v. Walker, Supra.* at 267 S.E. 2nd 601, 603 (S.C. 1980), the Supreme Court stated:

“...A party has a right to rely on the representations of another where the parties do not have equal knowledge to whom the representations are made has no opportunity to examine the property...”

Appellant had no opportunity to discern the mortgagee’s internal qualifications of the “promotional” mortgage balance reduction and therefore had the right to rely on mortgagee’s statements and those of its counsel, without time limitation.

The Appellant has provided his own affidavit (Affidavit of Grange Simons Lucas, III) that in the numerous telephone calls between himself and the mortgage servicer (PHH Mortgage) he was never informed by a representative that the \$50,000.00 reduction was only valid until August 31, 2025, nor was ever so informed in any other conversation. This is consistent with counsel’s email acknowledging that no time limits were contemporaneously discussed.

Due to the vagueness and self-contradictory terminology in the affidavit of Plaintiff, it is submitted that Appellant's affidavit is more credible especially in light of the email chain between counsel. It seems conclusive that the alleged time limit on the mortgage reduction was never communicated to either the Appellant or Appellant's counsel, and therefore not a term of the agreement.

The fact that the \$50,000.00 reduction was described in the mortgage payoff statement as "promotional" does not alter the fact that it was contractual in nature.

As stated in Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 660-661, 582 S.E. 2nd 432 (Ct. App. 2003):

"A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties, manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct. (Citation omitted). A contract exists where there is an agreement between two or more persons upon sufficient consideration either to do or not to do a particular act. Id. at 354 S.C. 660-661.

Here, all of those elements, initially negotiated orally but confirmed in writing, are present.

The mortgagee agreed to reduce the mortgage balance by \$50,0000.00. In exchange Appellant agreed to forego pursuing a ruling on the claim that the interest rate had been improperly compounded. Each party therefore received valuable consideration. Not only did the parties communicate through their counsel, acting on behalf of and with authority of their clients, but also confirmed by the mortgagee by issuing the payoff statement dated April 30, 2025, with the intention that it be relied upon by Appellant.

The Consent Order of March 6, 2025, establishing the debt then due as \$377,377.50 in no way negates the agreement as that order was entered prior to the making of the agreement. Further, the context of the communications between counsel indicates that the consent order was not intended to foreclose the outstanding interest issue.