THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

**RECEIVED**

**Aug 17 2026**

**SC Court of Appeals**

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough  
Master in Equity for Charleston County

---

Appellate Case No. 2026-000961

---

Nationstar HECM Acquisition Trust, 2015-2, Wilmington Savings Fund Society, FSB, not  
individually, but solely as Trustee,

Respondent,

v.

Grange Simons Lucas, III, Individually and as personal representative for the Estate of Mary  
King Lucas (2014-ES-10-0682), Renee Jervey Lucas, Mary Catherine Lucas Jakeman, James A.

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the Master in Equity Correctly Denied Grange Simons Lucas, III, et al.'s (*"Appellant"*) 71(c) Motion for Surplus and further Ordering that a \$50,000.00 Payoff Reduction Offer was a Promotional Program that had Expired and not a Binding Agreement.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action is to set aside an Order denying a 71(c) Motion stemming out of a foreclosure sale of the subject property due to Appellant's default on a loan secured by real property located in Charleston County, South Carolina. Respondent commenced this action after Appellant failed to make required payments under the note and mortgage. The record reflects that Respondent produced the operative loan documents and evidence of default.

The Master in Equity entered a final order of foreclosure and sale on August 28, 2015, determining the total debt and interest rate. Following several years of delay the mortgaged property was sold at a foreclosure sale on January 6, 2026. On January 16, 2026, Appellant filed a Motion for Surplus and then filed an Amended Motion for Surplus on January 21, 2026, claiming a \$50,000.00 reduction based on an alleged settlement agreement related to a promotional program between April and August of 2025. Following a hearing, the Master in Equity entered an Order dated March 3, 2026, determining that the \$50,000.00 reduction to the mortgage balance offered by the Respondent was in fact a limited discount promotion and not a binding agreement.

Appellant then filed a motion under SCRCR Rule 59(e) to alter or amend the Master in Equity's Order. The Master in Equity denied this motion by order dated March 19, 2026, reaffirming its earlier decision that the \$50,000.00 reduction was and not a binding agreement. This appeal followed. There are two reasons why this Court should affirm the Master in Equity's rulings:

*First*, the Master in Equity properly ordered contrary to Appellant's 71(c) Motion given the evidence that the promotional program ran from April to August of 2025 and that the foreclosure sale did not occur until January of 2026;

*Second*, the Appeal would allow Appellant to continue to benefit from the delays he has caused in this foreclosure to the detriment of the Respondents

## **I. Statement of the Facts**

Mary King Mood Lucas, ("**Mary King**") made, executed and delivered to Success Mortgage Partners, Inc. its successors and assigns, a certain note dated February 8, 2012 in writing wherein and whereby Mary King promised to pay to Success Mortgage Partners, Inc., its successors and assigns, the principal sum of \$247,500.00 together with interest at the rate of 5.06% per annum on the unpaid balance ("**Note**"); said principal and interest being payable in monthly installments thereafter until the said Note is fully paid. Compl. ¶ 7. In order to secure payment of said Note, Mary King made, executed and delivered to Mortgage Electronic Registration Systems, Inc., ("**MERS**"), as nominee for Success Mortgage Partners, Inc., its successors and assigns, a certain mortgage dated February 8, 2012 ("**Reverse Mortgage**") securing the below described real property, including any and all improvements to the property, located in Charleston County, South Carolina ("**Subject Property**"):

ALL that lot, piece or parcel of land, with the buildings and improvements therein, in St. Andrews Parish, in the County of Charleston, State of South Carolina, known and designated as Lot Three (3), Block F, on a plat bearing the legend "Plat of Section 3 Lenevar Subdivision, Charleston County, S.C." dated March 24, 1960 by A.L. Glen Reg. P.S. and L.S. and recorded in Plat Book M at Page 113, in the RMC Office for Charleston County. Said lot having such size, shape, dimensions, buttings and boundings as are shown and delineated on said map which is made a part and parcel hereof by reference thereto.

SAID lot is conveyed subject to the restrictions applicable to said property, which are set forth in the Declaration of the same dated April 9, 1960 in Book D-70 at page 634 in the RMC Office aforesaid.

BEING the same premises conveyed to Mary King Lucas, the Mortgagor herein, by deed of Grange S. Lucas, III and Mary Catherine Lucas, executed May 23, 1989 and recorded on May 24, 1989 in Book P-184, at page 350, and re-recorded June 25, 1992 in Book H-215 at page 889, and by deed of Renee J. Lucas, executed May 7, 1985 and recorded July 29, 1985 in Book W-148, at page 810.

*Parcel No.* 352-12-00-104  
*Property Address:* 1412 Tara Road  
Charleston, SC 29407

Compl. ¶ 8.

The Reverse Mortgage was recorded on February 14, 2012 in the Office of the Register of Deeds for Charleston County, South Carolina, in Book 233 at Page 544 and eventually assigned to Generation Mortgage Company by assignment, original plaintiff of the foreclosure action. Compl. ¶¶ 9, 11. The Reverse Mortgage was eventually assigned to Nationstar HECM Acquisition Trust 2015-2 (“**Respondent**”) by assignment, and the pleadings were amended to substitute it as Plaintiff. Order to Amend Caption and Proceedings Substituting Plaintiff at 2-3.

The Note and the Reverse Mortgage evidences and secures the repayment of money advanced by MERS, its successors and assigns, to, or on behalf of, Mary King and constitutes a valid first lien on the Subject Property. Compl. ¶ 11. In and by the terms of the Note and the Reverse Mortgage securing the same, it is provided, among other things, that upon failure to pay any installment of either principal or interest or any portion thereof when due, or if any of the conditions and requirements in the Reverse Mortgage securing the same not be complied with, then the whole principal sum and accrued interest shall at the option of the legal holder thereof become at once due and payable without notice, and collectible by foreclosure. Compl. ¶ 17. In and by the terms of the said Note it is further provided that the maker thereof shall pay all collection costs including reasonable attorneys’ fees if the said Note be placed in the hands of an attorney for collection after default. Compl. ¶ 18. Any notice required by the terms of the Reverse Mortgage

or by State or Federal law was given to the applicable defendant(s) prior to the commencement of Generation Mortgage Company's foreclosure action. Compl. ¶ 26.

Mary King's death on December 11, 2013, was an event of default under the Note and Reverse Mortgage, thereby giving Generation Mortgage Company the right to declare the entire balance of principal and interest due there under payable at once. Compl. ¶ 24.

## **II. Procedural History**

### **A. Appellant made a Rule 70(c) Motion for Surplus to Set Aside the Judgment which the Master in Equity Denied, and Appellant now Appeals that Decision.**

On January 20, 2015, Generation Mortgage Company filed its *Lis Pendens*, Summons, and Complaint for Foreclosure. *See generally* Compl. According to its affidavit of service, Generation Mortgage Company served Appellant on January 20, 2015; January 23, 2015; and February 25, 2015. *See* August 2015 Affs. of Service. Only Grange Simons Lucas, III ("Lucas"), Personal Representative of Mary King's estate, filed an answer. *See* February 2015 Answer. On April 9, 2015 Generation Mortgage Company filed an Affidavit of Default as to those other parties. *See* Aff. of Default. The Court of Common Pleas referred the matter the Master in Equity by Order of Reference filed on April 9, 2015. *See* Order of Reference.

A Final Hearing on Foreclosure was held on August 12, 2015 where Master in Equity Mikell R. Scarborough authorized a foreclosure sale to occur at a convenient sales day following that hearing via an Order. *See* August 2015 Sale Order. The first sale date was scheduled November 3, 2015. *See* Aff. of Pub filed March 2016. Lucas filed for Chapter 13 bankruptcy on November 2, 2015. On November 14, 2016, the United States Bankruptcy Court, District of South Carolina dismissed Lucas's case. Appellant was provided with a Notice of Sale on February 21, 2017; April 10, 2017; and July 14, 2017. *See* 2017 Affs. Of Service. Appellant motioned to stay the foreclosure sale on April 30, 2018 which was granted by Order May 3, 2018. *See* May 2018 Order.

Lucas filed for Bankruptcy five more times over the following five years, all of which were dismissed, save the last one filed on September 2, 2022, which instituted a 12-month re-finance plan of the Subject Property. *See* Respondent's Reply to Defendant's Motion / Verified Claim for Surplus. On March 11, 2024, Respondent filed a Motion for Relief from Stay due to Appellant's failure to maintain homeowner's insurance. *See Id.* A Settlement Order was entered on April 30, 2024 requiring Appellant to reimburse Respondent for the homeowner's insurance, but Appellant failed to comply, leading to Respondent filing an Affidavit of Default on December 20, 2024 that resulted in the court lifting the stay. *See Id.*

The 11th foreclosure sale date on March 4, 2025 was cancelled due to Appellant listing the Subject Property for sale. On March 6, 2025 the Master entered a Consent Order establishing the total debt as \$377,377.50, giving Appellant 30 days to obtain a contract. *See* March 2025 Consent Order. The Consent Order did not show the \$50,000.00 discount. Appellant obtained a contract for sale for \$450,000.00, leading to the cancellation of the 12<sup>th</sup> scheduled foreclosure sale. The 12th scheduled sale was cancelled so that Appellant could obtain a reverse mortgage to payoff the loan. The Subject Property was ultimately sold to third party at a foreclosure sale on January 6, 2026 for \$404,074.03. At the time of the foreclosure sale the contractual amount due to the Respondent was \$403,469.35. *See* Affidavit of Plaintiff ¶ 6.

On January 16, 2026, Appellant filed a Rule 71(c) Motion for Surplus and then filed an Amended Motion for Surplus on January 29, 2026, claiming a \$50,000.00 reduction based on an alleged binding agreement related to a promotional program for the foreclosure sale. *See* referenced motion. On March 3, 2026, the Master in Equity issued an Order denying Appellant's Motion and determining that the \$50,000.00 was in fact a promotional program and not a binding agreement. *See* March 3, 2026 Order. On March 5, Appellant filed a Motion to Alter and/or Amend

the March 3, Order, but this Motion was denied by Order on March 19, 2026. *See* Order Denying Motion to Reconsider. The Master entered an Order of Sale and Disbursement on March 19, 2026, finalizing the sale. *See* March 19, 2026 Order.

On April 17, 2026, Appellant filed and served a Notice of Appeal of the March 19, 2026 Order denying Appellant's Rule 71(c) Amended Motion for surplus. *See* Notice of Appeal. Appellant appeals the March 3, 2026 Order denying Appellant's Amended Motion for Surplus, The March 19, 2026 Order denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend, and that same Order's Order of Sale and Disbursement. *See Id.*

## **ARGUMENTS**

### **I. Standard of Review**

#### **A. Appellant Has the Burden of Convincing the Court of Appeals that the Masters in Equity Committed Error in his Findings.**

An action for the foreclosure of a real estate mortgage is in equity. *Collier v. Green*, 244 S.C. 367, 370, 137 S.E.2d 277, 279 (1964). All regular and special judges may hear and determine actions for foreclosure suits and all other equity matters concerning real estate. S.C. Code Ann. § 14-5-350. Once referred, the master or special referee shall exercise all power and authority which a circuit judge sitting without a jury would have in a similar matter. SC R. CIV. P. 53. In an action at equity, tried by a judge alone, an appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence. *Eldridge v. Eldridge*, 398 S.C. 113, 118, 728 S.E.2d 24, 26 (2012). However, the appellant is not relieved of his burden of convincing the appellate court the trial judge committed error in his findings. *Id.*

**II. The Master in Equity Correctly Determined that the \$50,000.00 Reduction to the Mortgage Balance was a Promotional Incentive Program and not a Negotiated Agreement.**

The Master in Equity correctly ordered against Appellant's Amended Motion for Surplus by finding that the \$50,000.00 Reduction to the Mortgage Balance was a expired promotional program. "A mortgage and a note are separate securities for the same debt, and a mortgagee who has a note and mortgage to secure a debt has the option to either bring an action on the note or to pursue a foreclosure action." *U.S. Bank Trust Nat'l Ass'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 374, 684 S.E.2d 199, 204 (Ct. App. 2009). "Generally, the party seeking foreclosure has the burden of establishing the existence of the debt and the mortgagor's default on that debt." *Id.* at 374-75, 684 S.E.2d at 205. "Once the debt and default have been established, the mortgagor has the burden of establishing a defense to a foreclosure such as lack of consideration, payment or accord and satisfaction." *Id.*

The Note and the Reverse Mortgage are direct evidence of the terms and existence of the agreement entered into by Mary King. *See* Exhibits 2 and 3 to Master's Order of Judgment of Foreclosure & Sale. Further bolstering its Motion, Nationstar Mortgage, LLC submitted an Affidavit of Plaintiff. *See* March 2026 Affidavit of Plaintiff. Nationstar Mortgage, LLC's Affidavit of Plaintiff clearly establishes the breach of the Note and the Reverse Mortgage and the amount and measures of damages sustained by Nationstar Mortgage, LLC resulting from the breach upon Mary King's death. With the copies of the Note, the Reverse Mortgage, and Nationstar Mortgage, LLC 's Affidavit of Plaintiff, the essential elements and facts of its cause of action for foreclosure were established. *See U.S. Bank Trust Nat. Ass'n v. Bell*, 385 S.C. 364, 374-75, 684 S.E.2d 199, 205 (Ct. App. 2009). Appellant's Initial Brief does not focus on appeal of the foreclosure order itself but rather the March 3, 2026 Order ruling contrary to Appellant's 71(c) Amended Motion

for Surplus and the subsequent March 19, 2026 Order of Sale and Disbursement and Order denying Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend that March 19 Order.

On March 6, 2025, the court entered a Consent Order Continuing Sale, signed by both Plaintiff's and Lucas's counsel, which stipulated the total debt as of March 4, 2025 to be \$377,377.50. The total debt at the time of the January 6, 2026 sale was \$404,469.35 which accounted for the agreed upon total debt in that March 6 Order and the interest and corporate advances that accrued between that date and the sale date of January 6, 2026. *See* March 2026 Plaintiff's Affidavit. No modifications following that Consent Order had been agreed upon by the parties and/or filed with the Court. Respondent did, however, offer a promotional program to Appellant that ran until August 2025 and would result in a discounted payoff total if the property was sold within that timeline. The Master found based upon the parties' evidence that this was a promotional program and not a binding contract, and since Appellant did not comply with the terms of that offer was not included during the January 6, 2026 foreclosure sale, there was no breach of any settlement agreement between the parties.

Appellant asserts the existence of such a settlement agreement entered into by the parties and unreasonably relies on a payoff statement that expired in May 2025 as evidence of that agreement. However, no agreement between counsel shall be binding unless reduced to the form of a consent order or written stipulation signed by counsel and entered in the record, or unless made in open court and noted upon the record, or reduced to writing and signed by the parties and their counsel. SC R. CIV. P. 43(k). There has been no consent order or written stipulations signed by counsel or entered in the record that would serve to modify the March 6, 2025 Consent Order. Neither has any such agreement been made in open court nor signed by the parties and their counsel that would change the terms of that March 6, 2025 Order.

Instead, Appellant relies on a payoff statement from April 30, 2025 as evidence of that agreement. *See* Exhibit A to Appellant's Amended Motion for Surplus. That payoff statement had a good through date of May 15, 2025, and thus the terms within that payoff statement explicitly terminated on May 15, 2025 following Appellant's failure to pay off the Reverse Mortgage. Appellant's contention in their Initial Brief that this good through date does not apply to the promotional discount included does not establish that any terms on that payoff statement would extend past its explicit termination date. Therefore, reliance on this payoff form to assert the existence of a settlement agreement that, not signed by both parties or entered into the record, is unreasonable.

Accordingly, Appellant has failed to provide sufficient evidence that there was a settlement agreement between the parties that would show that the Master in Equity erred in ordering contrary to Appellant's Rule 71(c) Amended Motion for Surplus, reasserting the figures stated in this order in its Order of Sale and Disbursement, and subsequent denial of Appellant's Motion to Alter or Amend that Order. Thus, this Court should affirm the Master in Equity's Orders denying the Appellants' Motions for Surplus and Motion to Alter or Amend and the Master's Order of Sale and Disbursement.

### **III. The Appeal would Allow Appellant to Continue to Benefit from the Delays he has Caused in this Foreclosure to the Detriment of the Respondent**

Allowing this appeal to continue would allow Appellant to continue to delay this foreclosure process to the detriment of the Respondent. The Summons and Complaint in this foreclosure action was filed January 2, 2015. The Master's Order of Judgment of Foreclosure & Sale was entered August 28, 2015. The first foreclosure sale date was set November 3, 2015. Since that first foreclosure sale, there has been twelve more sale dates scheduled over a decade before the property was ultimately sold January 6, 2026. In that time, Lucas has filed 6 for Bankruptcy 6

separate times, entered into and breached a Settlement Order for failure to reimburse Respondent for failure to maintain homeowners insurance, and breached a contract for sale for the Subject Property.

Appellant has continuously delayed these foreclosure proceedings and seeks to continue these proceedings through an appeal at the detriment of Respondent who has to continue paying counsel, direct resources towards continues proceedings, and who may have to account for a potential bounce back onto the Respondent's books. Therefore, this Court should affirm the Master in Equity's decision and dismiss this appeal so Appellant can no longer continue to delay proceedings at the expense of Respondent's time and resources.

### **CONCLUSION**

Nationstar HECM Acquisition Trust, 2015-2 requests that this Court affirm the Master in Equity's March 3, 2026 Order denying Lucas's Rule 71(c) Amended Motion for Surplus, March 19, 2026 Order of Sale and Disbursement, and March 19, 2026 Order denying Lucas's Motion to Alter or Amend for two reasons:

***First***, the Master in Equity properly ordered contrary to Appellant's 71(c) Motion given the evidence that the promotional program ran from April to August of 2025 and that the foreclosure sale did not occur until January of 2026;

***Second***, the Appeal would allow Appellant to continue to benefit from the delays he has caused in this foreclosure to the detriment of the Respondents